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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

JEFFREY ISAACS,

Civil Action No.
17-1122FEDS

Plaintiff,
V.

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT
OF EDUCATION ,

~— e O —

Defendant

)

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER
ON DEFENDANT'S PARTIAL MOTION TO DISMISS

SAYLOR, J.

This matter arises out aflong-standinglispute between a former medical resident and a
medical school. Plaintiff Jeffrey Isaacs has brought suit agamfepartment of Education
alleging, among other thingshat itsOffice for Civil Rights (“*OCR”)failed toinvestigate the
circumstanceswrounding his termination from Dartmoulthitchcock Medical Centan New
Hampshire. Isaacs has asserted two claims under the AdministrativduPeoset (“APA”), 5
U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).In Count 1, he contends that OCR’s decisiodeay his appedb
investigate hisdministrative complaint waen “arbitrary and capricious” agency action in
violation of the APA.In Count 2, he contends that the Office of Federal Student Aid’s decision
to deny hisappealto dischargenore thar200,000 in student loan dekéas similarly “arbitrary
and capricious.”

Defendant has moved to dismiss Counnlhegrounds of sovereign immunity and

failure to state a claim pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). For the reasodstate the
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Court finds that sovereign immunity has not been waived, andaktien will be granted.

l. Background

A. Factual Background

The facts are set forth as described in the amecaleglaint and public recordBecause
the government has only moved to disn@gaint 1of the amended complaint, this memorandum
and order will not address factual allegatisntelyrelated toplaintiff's claim concerninghe
Office of Federal Student Aid.

Dr. Jeffrey Isaacs is a resident of Pennsylvania. (Compl. § 14). In 1997 he/kvigs an
undergraduate at Dartmouflollege he suffered a head injury because of an incident with an
intoxicated student.lq. I 18). The head injury caused ldagting effectsincluding “post-
concussion syndrome,” and hindereddidity to finishhis pre-med course requirementid.)(

He dropped several difficult classes and ultimately obtained a degree in eospence. I1¢.).
He went on to attend the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania and received a
Masters in Business Admsitration there. I¢l. 11 14, 19). By 2005, Headcompleted the pre-
med course requirements that he did not finish at Dartmoldh{ 19).

In 2005, Isaacs enrolled at the Keck School of Medicine at the University of Southern
California. (d. § 20). However, during his first year, there wabat he call$[a]n unfortunate
series of circumstancés(ld.). The complaint states that there was an allegation of
unprofessionalism brought by one of biassmates(ld.).! Keck suspended Isaacs in February

2006,and ultimately expelled himSee In re: Jeffrey D. Isaacs, M,IN.H. Bd. of Med., Docket

1lsaacs was accusedluirassmentSee Isaacs v. Dartmouthitchcock Med. Ctr.2014 WL 1572559, at
*2 (D.N.H. Apr. 18, 2014).



No. 13-07, (Mar. 11, 2014).Isaacssubsequently sugdeck, andultimately two settlements
were reached.Qompl. § 21). The first settlement, which was agreed to in September 2007,
sealed certain school records relating to Isadds). (The second settlement, which was entered
into in 2008, “discharge[d] all contracts and agreements” relating torteésatkKeck. (Id.).

In order to pursue a mea@icdegree, Isaaanrolled in the American University of the
Caribbean Medical Schoolld( § 22). He received degree from that institution in 2010d.}.

He received more tha®200,000 in federal student aid to pay for his tuitidd.).( He took the
United States Medical Licensing Examination, and his score “exceeded thataverage
neurosurgeon, his desired specialtyld. )

After graduating, Isaacs began a surgical program residency at theditgigéArizona.
(Id. § 23). By his third day, supervisors described him as “far behind his peers” kand lac
“technical ability.” (d.). The complaint alleges that Isaacs had “perfectly completed the only
procedure, a sub-cuticular suture, that he had been required to perftdm. Hé resigned from
the residencwfter approximately six weeksld().

Isaacghenreceived a psychiatriesidency position at Dartmoutfitchcock Medical
Centerin New Hampshire in 2011.Id;  24). In his application, he “omitted both his
attendance at [Keck] and his aborted residency at [the University of Arizdsahcs v.
DartmouthHitchcock Med. Ctr.2014 WL 1572559, at *2 (D.N.H. Apr. 18, 20X4yanting
summary judgment to defendantsfhe complaint alleges that immediatelpon hisarrival at

DartmouthHitchcock,hewas “subject to mistreatment and abuseCorfipl 1 25). Specifically,

20n a motion to dismissndler Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a court normally cannot consider evidetsigeou
the complaint and attached exhibits without converting the motion intdiamior summary judgment. However,
the First Circuit has recognized “narrow exceptions” to that rule, imguafficial public records.” Watterson v.
Page 987 F.2d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 1993).

3 The complaint alleges that Isaacs had disclbseg@rior residencpefore joning DartmouthHitchcock.
(Compl. g1 24, 30).



it alleges that havas ordered to “perform two unnecessary prostate examinations” and was
treated differently from other residentdd.]. Nevertheles, according to the complaitte
received “predominately positive reviews during [his] psychiatry rotatiofid. § 26).

It appears that relatively early Ims tenure at DartmoutHitchcock, Isaacs was placed on
probation. [d.). “[T]he stress of bing placed on probation,” coupled with “criticism from
superiors” “led to the development of significant health problemisgl.). (The complaint alleges
that hedeveloped a severe sleep disorder and requested medical leave to recupleffay).(
However, his supervisors denied his request for leawk). (The complaintlleges that the sleep
disorder also stemmed from his head injury that he suffered at Dartmouth Colle&g/i (d.
29).

In January 2012, a supervisor discovered that Isaacs had previously been a resident at the
University of Arizona. Id. 1 30). A confrontation with the supervisor led to Isaacs suffering a
“psychological crisis.” Igd.). On March 19, 2012D)artmouthHitchcockissued a letter to Isaacs
stating that he was being terminated for his failurdisolose his record at Keck and his Arizona
residency. I. 1 31). Isaacs acknowledges that he never disclosed his record gth<eck
contends that he did $@cause he believed his prior litigatisaled all documents relating to
his attendancé¢here (Id. 1 44). The complaint alleges that he has since applied for a residency
at “nearly every hospital in the country,” but that he has been denied eachltinie4?7).

The New Hampshire Boaf Medicine revoked Isaacsmedcal license and found that
his termination from Dartmoutiditchcockwas appropriate because he concealed material
information in his residency applicatiosee In re: Jeffrey D. Isaacs, M,&t 8. The Board of
Medicine urther reprimanded him for not only failing to provide any “credible evidence” in

support of his positigrbut also “knowingly” making a false statemeid. at 89.



Isaacsalleges that h&repeatelly attempted to have Dartmoditivestigate his claims”
that he was terminated “without any of the administrative procedures estadiigDartmouth
policies.” Compl.|1 3:32). The complaint alleges that Dartmotitchcockdeclined to
investigate his claims for two yeardd.( 32). Frustrated with whae perceived to be
“obfuscations and denials,” Isaacs filed two spits se the first was in the District of New
Hampshire, and the second was in the Eastern District of PennsylMahiff $233).* Both
actions were eventually resolved against hime;former on summary judgment, and the latter
for lack of personal jurisdiction over the named defendards  33).

On April 19, 2014, Isaacsreailed a complaint to OCRId( 1 34). The ewalil
suggested thddartmouthHitchcockhad engaged in $sault in hazing” and that then-Dartmouth
CollegePresident Jim Yong Kim participated in “evidence destruction.” (Compl. Ex. A at 2).
The email further stated that all federal judges in New Hampshée biase@nd would not
fairly adjudicate his clais (d.).

Approximately six months elapsed before OCR replied. On October 16, 2iiie!
Lopez, an OCR attorney, attempted to reach Isaacs by telephone. (§&%)5 She then sent
Isaacs an-enail to set up a phone call, which occurred the next daly). (During the call,

Lopez purportedly stated that there had previously been complaints &mitmsouth
Hitchcock, and that the Department of Education nasstigatingthe hospital in response to
OCR-related complaints.1d.).

However, soon afterward, Isaacs received a letter dated October 17, 2014, athith st

4 Exhibit A to the amended complaint indicates flsaficshad also filed suit in the Western District of
Texas toobtainevidence from the federal judiciary’s PACER systdmaddition, as described later in this
memorandum andrder, plaintiff has filed four separate actions in thetfds of New Hampshire.

5 The complaint incorrectly states that Lopez called Isaacs on October 16,(@iipl. § 35).
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that OCR was “closing” his complaintld(  36; ComplEx. B). The letter stated th#he
complaint was untimely becau88CR generally does not investigate allegations [of
discrimnation] that are filed more than 180 days after the date of the alleged disaominat
andlsaacs filed his complaint iapril 2014, more thartwo years after the purported misconduct.
(Compl Ex. B at 2).

According to the OCKase Processing Manuhbkn in effect, avaiver of the 18@ay
filing requirement could be granted for good cause showh).( OCR stated that Isaacs had
not presented any information that would warrant such a wailag). Epecifically, OCR stated
that Isaacs had nestablished that he was “unable to file a complaint with OCR earlier due to
incapacitation.” Id.). The letter noted thats early as January 201 had contacted the

police, sent letters to the former president of Dartmouth College, and fileiglensuits. The

8 The reasons providdéd the manuaare the following:

(a) The complainant could not reasonably be expected to know the act wasidaory within
the 180day period, and the complaint allegation was filed within 60 days aé&erotmplainant
became aware of the alleged discrimination (note that lack of previous aware@&R or the
civil rights laws enforced by OCR is not a tsafir a waiver);

(b) The complainant was unable to file a complaint because of incapaciti@sg ibr other
incapacitating circumstances during the -t period, and the complaint allegation was filed
within 60 days after the period of incapacitatended,;

(c) The complainant filed a complaint alleging the same discriminatoducomvithin the 180
day period with another federal, state, or local civil rights enforceagamncy, or federal or state
court, and filed a complaint with OCR within 60 daafter the other agency had completed its
investigation or, in the case of a court, reached a determination, or the ageoayt motified the
complainant that it would take no further action;

(d) The complainant filed, within the 1&[ay period, an iernal grievance with a recipient of
federal financial assistance, or a due process hearing, alleging the samerditmry conduct
that is the subject of the OCR complaint, and the complaint is filed noHate60 days after the
internal grievance isoncluded; or

(e) Unique circumstances generated by OCR’s action have adversely affeatediiainant.

(Compl. Ex. B at



letter concludedby statingthat any additional questions should be directed to Lopez, with whom
Isaacs had already spokemd. @t 3).

Isaacs eamailed Lopez on November 5, 2014, and explained that he would appeal OCR’s
decision. (Complf 38). He claimed that he had shown good cause for a waiver because he had
two pending federal lawsuitghen the complaint was filedn addition, he claimed that he only
learned in early 2014 that “Dartmouth never initiated an internal grievance iraestjgfter
informing [him] that one would occur.”ld.). Lopez replied that she would treat hisnaH as an
appeal and that k&hould submit any additional documents or information he thought relevant by
December 16, 2014.1d. 1 39 Compl.Ex. C).

Isaacssubmitted a letter to OCR on December 12, 2@lldging that OCR incorrectly
determined that the “last discriminatory act against [him] occurred in 2012rhglCEx. D at
1). The letter claimed that DartmouHfttchcock and the Dartmouth College admiration were
“openly flaunting the fact that they would not investigate [his] claimkl’).( Included in the
letter were excerpts from depositions with various hospitaDartmouth Collegefficials that
he claimed supported his claims of discrimioati (d. at 2)” OCR sent a letter to Isaacs dated
August 14, 2017, findinthat “the issues raised in yoappeal do not warrantchange in OCR’s
disposition of youcase” (Compl.Ex. B).

B. Procedural Background

Isaacs filed suit against the DepartmdnEducation on June 30, 2017. An amended

complaint was then filed on November 7, 2017, asserting two claims against defendiant

" For exampleplaintiff cited a portion of a deposition with his direct superviddartmoutkHitchcock
Dr. Christine Finn. Theuoted portion is as follows:

Question: Do you know if anyone’s ever investigated that unnecd3R&yg[digital rectal
exams] have been alleged?

Answer: Not that I'm aware of.



for violation of theAPA by OCR(Count 1) anch claim for volation of the APA by the
Department of Education’s Office of Federal Student Aid (Count 2). Defendantvasl ho
dismiss Count 1 on the basis of sovereign immunity and for failure to state gal@uant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).
1. Analysis

“Under settled principles of sovereign immunity, ‘the United States, as sovereign, is
immune from suit, save as it consents to be sued and the terms of its consent to be sued in any
court define that court's judgction to entertain the suit.’United States \Dalm, 494 U.S. 596,
608 (1990) (quotingnited States v. Testa#h24 U.S. 392, 399 (1976)) (internal quotation marks
and alterations omitted$ee alscCharles A. Wright & Arthur R. Miller, 14 Fed. Prac. & Proc. 8
3654 (4th ed.) (“[T]he absence of consently tnited States to suit has been treated by courts
as a fundamental defect that deprives the district court of subject matteicjiors”).
Defendantan as amgency of the United Statas,also entitled to sovereign immunitgarit v.
U.S. Drug Enforcement Admjr@87 F.2d 10, 16 (1st Cir. 1993). A plaintiff bears the “burden of
proving [that] sovereign immunity has been waiveMahon v. United State342 F.3d 11, 14
(1st Cir. 2014).

The Administrative Procedure Act provides an explicit waiver of sovereign imyrfonit
individuals seeking equitable relief if they have suffered “a legal wronguiseoof agency
action.” 5 U.S.C. § 70%ee also Sarit987 F.2d at 16. Here, plaintiff appears to seek an order
from this Court directing OCR to invisgate DartmoutfHitchcock. In addition, judicial review
is available where there is a “final agency action for which there is no otheréelegoedy in a
court.” 5U.S.C. § 704. However, the APA further specifies that sovereign immunity is not

waivedwhere “agency action is committed to agency discretion by laav.8 701(aj2).



Plaintiff contends that judicial review mossiblebecause OCR’s Case Processing
Manual “created standards by which to evaluate OCR’s refusal to investigatanhplaint.
(Mem. in Opp. at 3)However this “fails to account for the applicable language which accords
the OCR, not the Court, the responsibility and discretion to award arveditres filing time
limit.” Kamps v. Baylor Uniy2013 WL 12100452, at *5 (W.D. Tex. Oct. 30, 2013). “Both 34
C.F.R. 8§ 110.31(a) and Atrticle I, 8 107 of the OCR Case Processing Manual provitie that
Department of Education mafpr good cause shown, extend the ©ia@-time limit for filing a
complaint of discrimination.”ld. (emphasis in original) (ietnal quotation marks omitted).

Thecomplaint alleges that Dartmouktitchcock discriminated against plaintiff in 2011
and early 2012. (Compl. 1 24-31). No complaint was filed with OCR until April 20414,
pastthe 180-day deadline for filing a complaintd.({ 34). It was within OCR’s discretion
whether to grant a waiver for the 180-day deadlinecotdingly OCR’s decision to deny
plaintiff's appeal is an agency action “committed to agency discretion by lad S@ereign
immunity has not been waive&ees U.S.C. § 701(a)(2Bherman v. Blagk315 Fed. Appx.
347, 348 (2d Cir. 2009) (“the OCR'’s decision not to commence enforcgmoeeedings is
discretionary”);Mass. Pub. Interest Research Grp. v. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Co@b2n
F.2d 9, 14 (1st Cir. 1988).

In addition, plaintiff's suggestion that he lacks an adequate alternativelyéne
incorrect. He has filed no fewer thour separatections against DartmoutHitchcock, the
Trustees of Dartmouth College, former Dartmouth President Kim, the Nevpsténm Board of
Medicine, and various other defendants in the District of New Hamps®@&saacs v.
DartmouthHitchcock Mel. Ctr,, No. 12ev-0401M; Isaacs v. Dartmouthitchcock Med. Ctr.

No. 12¢v-413-SM; Isaacs v. Dartmoutliditchcock Med. Ctr.No. 14ev-0071LM; Isaacs v.



DartmouthHitchcock Med. Ctr.No. 17¢€v-0401LM.2 In these suits, he brought a litany of
claims against defendantscluding substantive and procedural due process violatibsebility
discrimination, retaliation, wrongful discharge, violation of the New Hampslawe Against
Discrimination, breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fanggeal
negligent misrepresentation, violation of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 19&3iornol
of the ADA,and common-law fraudSee, e.glsaacs v. Trustees of Dartmouth Colleg6é18
WL 734182 (D.N.H. Feb. 5, 2018saacs v. Trustees of Dartmouth Colleg817 WL 4857433
(D.N.H. Oct. 24, 2017)saacs v. Trustees of Dartmouth Colleg617 WL 288113@QD.N.H.
July 12, 201Y, Isaacs 2014 WL 1572559 The fact that essentially all claims have been
dismissed or resolved against plaintiff on summary judgment does not undermine the faet that
had an adequate remedy: “a suit against the [entity engaged in the dikgedinatio).” See
Pudlin v. Office for (Not of) Civil Rights of theS. Dep’t of Edu¢.186 F. Supp. 3d 288, 293
(S.D.N.Y. 2016).Therefore, OCR’fiandling of plaintiff's administrative complairg not
subject to judicial review, and CountMll be dismissed.

. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, defendapartialmotion to dsmiss is GRANTED.

So Ordered.
/s/_F. Dennis Saylor
F. Dennis Saylor IV
Dated: March12, 2018 United States District Judge

81t appears thativil action nos.12-413-SM and 14007-LM wereconsolidated witl2-040-LM.
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